**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

**THE PEOPLE,**

**Plaintiff and Respondent,**

**v.**

**LOUIS SANCHEZ EMANUEL,**

**Defendant and Appellant.**

---

Case No. S280551

**On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal  
Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H049147**

**On An Appeal From The Superior Court Of California  
Santa Clara County No. C1246799  
Hon. Vanessa Zecher, Judge**

---

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

**SOLOMON WOLLACK (State Bar No. 170003)  
Attorney at Law  
P.O. Box 23933  
Pleasant Hill, CA 94523  
Telephone: (925) 671-2501  
E-mail: [sol@wollack.com](mailto:sol@wollack.com)**

**Attorney for Appellant  
Louis Sanchez Emanuel**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does sufficient evidence support the trial court’s finding that appellant Louis Sanchez Emanuel acted with reckless indifference to human life and therefore was ineligible for resentencing pursuant to Penal Code section 1172.6?<sup>1</sup>

**SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In 2012, Jacob Whitley and 21-year old Louis Emanuel tried to rob Cody S. around 3:15 p.m. near a public park. When Cody would not cooperate, Emanuel walked away and told Whitley, “Let’s go.” Rather than leave, Whitley pulled out a gun and used it to strike and shoot Cody. Emanuel did not have any weapon or know that Whitley had one. Nonetheless, at a section 1172.6 proceeding, the trial court found that Emanuel acted with reckless indifference to human life. The Court of Appeal upheld its finding against a substantial evidence challenge.

In *People v. Clark* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 522, 618-622 (*Clark*), this Court established a five-factor test for assessing reckless

---

<sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to the Penal Code.

indifference to human life. Here, all five factors weighed in Emanuel's favor. Emanuel set out to commit an unarmed robbery at a public place in broad daylight. The robbery did not last long and Emanuel's youth likely impacted his ability to appreciate its risks. Emanuel's statements and actions at the scene showed that Cody's resistance, and Whitley's violent response, both took him by surprise. Perhaps most importantly, when the dangers of the situation escalated, Emanuel left and urged Whitley to follow.

The trial court and Court of Appeal inappropriately focused on what Emanuel did not do, while dismissing what he did do. Specifically, both courts placed paramount importance on his failure to physically restrain Whitley or aid Cody after the shooting. The courts' analysis presupposed that Emanuel could actually see the ongoing struggle and the eventual shooting. Yet, the struggle broke out only after he had walked away and while both participants were inside Cody's truck. Emanuel's later statements implied that he had learned about the details from Whitley and not from first-hand observation.

In any event, no published authority suggests that an unarmed robbery participant must physically intervene against an armed cohort in order to negate the element of reckless indifference. To demand that he do so would create a risk to life beyond that inherent in the robbery itself. Likewise, a failure to aid the victim has little bearing on reckless indifference. The mental state of reckless indifference must exist when the defendant undertakes to commit the felony. After-the-fact actions, under dramatically changed circumstances, provide little insight into the defendant's earlier mental state.

By ending his own involvement in the encounter, and trying to induce Whitley to leave, Emanuel manifestly disavowed the sort of "willingness to kill" required for reckless indifference to human life. (*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 617.) If an aider and

abettor had to take the almost-unheard-of step of trying to physically restrain a confederate or aid the victim, it would create a de facto rule of automatic felony-murder liability for all participants at the scene. Such an outcome would be little different than the now defunct practice of imputing malice to participants who do not actually kill. This Court should reverse.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Introduction**

Emanuel has asked this Court to take judicial notice of the records and dockets in his two previous appeals. The first was his original direct appeal – *People v. Whitley et al.*, H043651. The second was *People v. Emanuel*, H047062/H047347 – a previous appeal arising out of these same section 1172.6 proceedings. Within this brief, citations to the “ORT” or “OCT” refer to the record in Emanuel’s original appeal. Citations to the previous section 1172.6 appeal will be designated by H047062, which was one of its two case numbers. Unspecified record citations refer to the record in the present proceedings.

### **B. Emanuel’s jury trial and first resentencing petition**

After a joint trial with Jacob Whitley, a jury found Emanuel guilty of “first degree felony murder.” (3 OCT 821.) The jury returned the same verdict against Whitley with an additional finding that he personally discharged a firearm resulting in death. (3 OCT 822.) Emanuel received a prison sentence of 25 years to life. (4 OCT 1000-1001.)

On December 20, 2018, Emanuel filed a petition for resentencing under what is now section 1172.6. (1 CT [H047062]: 1-6.) The trial court initially denied the petition, finding Senate Bill No. 1437 unconstitutional. (1 CT [H047062]: 107.) Emanuel’s ensuing appeal was eventually stayed so the trial court could reconsider its ruling in light of new case law. (See Case No. H047062, Aug. 19, 2020 docket entry.) When the trial court

reversed its earlier ruling (1 RT 5), the Court of Appeal dismissed the then pending appeal as moot. (See Case No. H047062, Feb. 3, 2021 docket entry.)

**C. Trial court’s ruling on the merits and Court of Appeal’s decision**

On November 2, 2020, the trial court issued an order to show cause, finding that Emanuel’s petition established a prima facie case for relief. (1 CT 87.) Neither side presented new evidence following the order to show cause. Instead, the trial court based its ruling on the original trial record and on the attorneys’ briefing and oral argument. (Aug. RT 60; see 1 CT 112-139, 141-179.) In a 25-page written decision, the trial court denied Emanuel’s petition on the merits, finding proof beyond a reasonable doubt he was a major participant who acted with reckless indifference to human life. (1 CT 187, 198-211.)

On appeal, Emanuel argued there was no substantial evidence to support the finding of reckless indifference to human life. (Opn., p. 9.) The Court of Appeal affirmed in an unpublished opinion. (Opn., p. 14.) This Court granted review.

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On December 11, 2012, Jacob Whitley fatally shot J. Cody S. (Cody) during a robbery at or near a San Jose park. Emanuel also participated in the robbery but, when things did not go as planned, he walked away and urged Whitley to do the same. The shooting happened after Emanuel had left.

**A. Whitley and Emanuel arrange to buy a pound of marijuana from Mansour Amini and Cody**

In 2012, Mansour Amini and Cody were close friends who shared a common interest in working out and smoking marijuana. (6 ORT 476-477.) Cody also sold marijuana. (6 ORT 478.)

Amini attended De Anza College. (6 ORT 480.) Around two weeks before Cody’s death, Emanuel and Whitley approached

Amini on campus. (6 ORT 480-481.) Whitley identified himself as Louis. (6 ORT 479, 485.) Emanuel identified himself as Louis's cousin. (6 ORT 480.) Both men said they were from Las Vegas, which was untrue. (6 ORT 500; 9 ORT 972; 10 ORT 1073-1074.)

Whitley and Emanuel asked Amini if he knew where they could buy a pound of marijuana. (6 ORT 482-483, 555.) Amini replied that he could get it for them but it would take a couple weeks. (6 ORT 482, 485.) At the end of the conversation, Amini exchanged telephone numbers with Emanuel. (6 ORT 486.)

Over the next few days, Emanuel called Amini multiple times. (6 ORT 487-489.) Amini contacted Cody and asked if he had access to a pound of marijuana. (6 ORT 490.) Cody said he did but "[n]ot right away." (6 ORT 490.) He promised to pay Amini a \$200 commission. (6 ORT 490-491.)

Amini and Cody set up a meeting with Emanuel and Whitley so Cody could show them a sample of the marijuana. (6 ORT 558; 7 ORT 628.) The meeting took place at a parking lot outside a Panda Express restaurant in San Jose. (6 ORT 491-492.) During the meeting, Emanuel took a picture of the marijuana sample. (6 ORT 500.) Emanuel explained that he was buying it for an uncle and wanted to show him what it looked like. (6 ORT 500-501.) Amini found Emanuel's behavior "weird." (6 ORT 562.) He also believed it odd that the men offered an inexplicably high price for the marijuana and made no effort to negotiate. (6 ORT 501-503.)

Two or three days later, the men had a second meeting outside the same Panda Express. (6 ORT 512-513, 565.) It was already dark when Whitley and Emanuel arrived on foot. (6 ORT 514, 569.) Cody did not have the pound of marijuana so he drove the group to his supplier's house in his white pickup truck. (6 ORT 514-516.) After he parked his truck, Emanuel and Whitley

said they did not have the money. (6 ORT 515, 517.) Both men wanted to meet Cody's supplier. (6 ORT 516.)

Cody left for around 5 to 10 minutes. (6 ORT 517.) When he returned, he reported that his supplier did not wish to meet with Emanuel and Whitley since they did not have the money. (6 ORT 516-517.) Emanuel and Whitley suggested postponing the sale to a different day. (6 ORT 519.) The group agreed to meet at Cherry Park on December 11, 2012. (6 ORT 521.) Cherry Park is in San Jose and is also known as Paul Moore Park. (4 ORT 279, 283.)

#### **B. Amini and Cody arrive at Cherry Park**

On December 11, Cody picked up Amini and drove to Cherry Park. (6 ORT 524-525.) Around 2:30 p.m., he parked on a corner near the park. (6 ORT 530, 536.) Cody showed Amini the pound of marijuana inside a shoe box. (6 ORT 532.) Amini called Whitley, who said they were on their way. (6 ORT 538.)

Amini had his gym bag with him, as well as a small amount of his own marijuana on top of the gym bag. (6 ORT 535-537.) He and Cody had plans to work out after they left the park. (6 ORT 533, 535.) They also planned to smoke Amini's marijuana but could not agree on whether to do so on the way to the gym or after they arrived. (6 ORT 535.) Their disagreement soon grew into an argument. (6 ORT 533.) Cody opened the front passenger door and threw Amini's gym bag out of the truck, causing Amini's marijuana to spill. (6 ORT 536-537.) Amini got out of the truck and Cody drove off. (6 ORT 537, 539.)

At 3:06 p.m., Cody sent a text to Emanuel's phone. (12 ORT 1307, 1312.) The text said, "I be at the park right now with it. We can do this without this fool [Amini]." (12 ORT 1307-1308.)

#### **C. Cody's death**

The shooting of Cody took place between 3:15 and 3:20 p.m. at the corner of Lupine Court and Fairhaven Drive near the park. (4 ORT 298; 5 ORT 423-424.) Just before that time, several people

saw a four-door sedan in the area, described by witnesses as gold, tan, beige, or bronze. (4 ORT 266; 5 ORT 350-351, 394-396.) Some witnesses heard shots and the sound of screeching tires. (4 ORT 298; 5 ORT 365-367, 402.)

Lori Kelly noticed a white truck moving very fast in a direction “perpendicular to the street.” (5 ORT 367.) Seconds later, its door swung open and a man fell out and rolled into a gutter. (5 ORT 368-369.) Accident reconstruction testimony showed that the truck suddenly and violently lurched backward with enough force to throw Cody out the passenger side door. (6 ORT 459-462.)

Kimberly Salmon, who lived on Fairhaven, heard the screeching tires and a loud bang while inside her house. (5 ORT 390, 402.) She went outside and saw a white truck on top of the curb and a man lying face down on the ground. (5 ORT 403.) Salmon retrieved her phone from inside the house then returned outside and called 911. (5 ORT 404.) While on the phone, Salmon approached Cody and told him help was on the way. (5 ORT 405.) Cody made moaning sounds but did not respond. (5 ORT 405.)

The police dispatch went out at 3:20 p.m. (5 ORT 423.) Multiple people in the area heard sirens. (4 ORT 299; 5 ORT 372.) Fire captain James Aparicio was less than a mile away at the time of the dispatch. (5 ORT 413-414, 420.) He arrived at the accident scene within “only a couple minutes.” (5 ORT 414.) Police and fire personnel found the white truck with its engine still running and the driver side door locked. (5 ORT 417; 9 ORT 909.) Aparicio did not find any usable amount of marijuana inside the truck. (9 ORT 922, 929-930.)

After emergency personnel arrived, Kelly saw a beige car pull up and stop on a street which intersected with Fairhaven. (5 ORT 373-375.) The car remained there for several minutes before pulling away slowly. (5 ORT 375-376.) As it left, it stopped in the

middle of the intersection for around a minute. (5 ORT 376-377.) From that vantage point, its occupants would have been able to look down Fairhaven toward the accident scene. (5 ORT 377.)

Cody died from “a close-range gunshot wound of the neck.” (4 ORT 256.) The presence of stippling on his face indicated the barrel was within three feet of him. (4 ORT 238-239.) Cody also had an abrasion to his forehead consistent with being struck by a blunt object. (4 ORT 255.) He likely lost consciousness within minutes. (4 ORT 256.)

#### **D. Emanuel and Whitley speak to Breanna Santos**

Breanna Santos was Emanuel’s one-time girlfriend and the mother of his son, L.R. (8 ORT 749-750.) By December, 2012, their romantic relationship had ended. (8 ORT 749.) Emanuel still looked after L.R. during Santos’s work hours. (8 ORT 776.)

On December 12, 2012, Santos contacted the police, then went to the station for an interview with Sergeant Stewart Davies. (10 ORT 1054.) Santos told Davies that Emanuel had a cell phone in her name. (10 ORT 1055.) Whitley borrowed the phone on December 10. (10 ORT 1056.) Around 12:30 p.m. the next day, Santos dropped off L.R. at Emanuel’s house. (10 ORT 1056.) Whitley still had the phone at that time. (10 ORT 1056.)

Santos reported that she returned to Emanuel’s house sometime after 4:00 p.m. (10 ORT 1058.) Both Emanuel and Whitley were there. (10 ORT 1057.) Santos asked Whitley to return her phone. (10 ORT 1057.) Whitley replied that he had “shot a white boy” at Cherry Park. (10 ORT 1057-1058.) Emanuel confirmed that Whitley was telling the truth. (10 ORT 1058.)

On December 14, 2012, Davies brought Santos back for a second interview. (10 ORT 1061.) This time, he confronted her with phone records suggesting that Emanuel had accompanied Whitley to Cherry Park. (10 ORT 1063.) Eventually, Santos

admitted she had lied about Whitley having her phone. (10 ORT 1066-1067.)

Santos related that, when she returned to Emanuel's house on the evening of December 11, she noticed Emanuel had cut off the long dreadlocks which he had earlier in the day. (10 ORT 1071.) Whitley and Emanuel told her they had gone to Cherry Park to obtain marijuana. (10 ORT 1072, 1078.) When the dealer would not "give it up," Emanuel left. (10 ORT 1078.) As Emanuel was walking away, Whitley hit the man but did not knock him out. (10 ORT 1078.) Whitley then aimed his gun at the man's leg but the man pushed it upward, causing the gun to discharge and strike the man. (10 ORT 1078.)

After Santos's initial account, Davies asked her to repeat what Emanuel and Whitley had told her – this time taking care to specify who had made which statement. (10 ORT 1080.) Santos again said that Emanuel and Whitley went to "get some weed" from a man at Cherry Park. (10 ORT 1080-1081.) When the man would not "give it up," Emanuel "told [Whitley], let's go, but he wouldn't come on." (10 ORT 1081.) Whitley hit the man with a gun but he continued fighting back. (10 ORT 1081.) Whitley next pointed the gun downward but the man struck his hand, causing the gun to point upward as Whitley pulled the trigger. (10 ORT 1081.) The shot hit the man in the neck. (10 ORT 1081.)

After the shooting, Emanuel scolded Whitley, asking, "What the fuck you doing?" (10 ORT 1082.) Emanuel then "started panicking" and went home. (10 ORT 1082.)

Whitley told Santos he had thrown away the gun and the clothes he was wearing at the time of the incident. (10 ORT 1069.) Both men said they had gotten rid of Santos's phone. (10 ORT 1079.) Fearing that her phone might contain incriminating texts, Santos asked the two men what they had gotten her into. (10 ORT 1078-1079.) Emanuel began crying and replied, "I didn't do

nothing . . . Jacob was the one who shot him.” (10 ORT 1078.) Emanuel added, “[H]e’s so dumb. He’s so dumb. I can’t believe he did this.” (10 ORT 1085.)

Both Whitley and Emanuel urged Santos to report her phone as lost. (10 ORT 1079.) Emanuel suggested she tell the police that Whitley had the phone. (10 ORT 1079-1080.)

**E. Whitley reports the shooting to his girlfriend**

Destinee Kindle was Whitley’s ex-girlfriend. (9 ORT 971; 10 ORT 998.) After the shooting, Whitley showed her a news story about the incident and said he and Emanuel were involved in it. (9 ORT 983-984.) Whitley explained that he “was trying to rob the boy of some weed” and accidentally shot him in the neck while aiming for his foot. (9 ORT 984.) Kindle later sent an e-mail to the prosecutor stating that Whitley admitted shooting Cody “in self-defense.” (10 ORT 1012-1014.)

**F. Emanuel’s age**

The abstract of judgment shows that Emanuel was 21 years old on December 11, 2012. (4 CT 1001.)

**ARGUMENT**

**I.**

**No substantial evidence supported the trial court’s finding that Emanuel acted with reckless indifference to human life.**

The trial court found that Emanuel acted with reckless indifference to human life. The Court of Appeal upheld the ruling against a challenge that no substantial evidence supported it. In fact, the evidence showed that Emanuel had no weapon and did not know of Whitley’s gun. When the robbery became more fraught with danger, Emanuel ended his own participation in the crime and tried to persuade Whitley to leave. In the face of such evidence, no reasonable factfinder could conclude that Emanuel acted with reckless indifference to human life.

## **A. Background**

The trial court based its reckless indifference finding almost entirely on Emanuel's physical presence at the robbery scene and on its belief that he made inadequate efforts to prevent the shooting or aid Cody after the fact. (1 CT 205-206, 209.)

The trial court found "no evidence" that Emanuel "knew Whitley was armed" or "that the [robbery] plan involved the use of a gun." (1 CT 198, 204.) However, it concluded that Emanuel learned of the gun after Whitley pulled it out and struck Cody with it. (1 CT 205.) Once this happened, the court believed Emanuel still had time to prevent the shooting while Whitley and Cody were struggling. (1 CT 205-206.) The court did not specify what further actions Emanuel could have taken to restrain Whitley.

The trial court accorded little significance to Emanuel's departure from the scene or his plea for Whitley to leave. (See 1 CT 207.) The court called it "unclear" whether these events occurred before or after the shooting. (1 CT 207.) It also posited that Emanuel may have told Whitley to leave out of a desire "to avoid criminal liability." (1 CT 207.) During the hearing on the petition, the court expressed the view that Emanuel actively participated in planning the robbery, then tried to "wash[] his hands" of liability when Whitley revealed a gun and refused to leave. (Aug. RT 54.) The court opined that "walking away [while] Cody had a gun pointed at him" was "as bad as pulling the trigger." (Aug. RT 59.)

The trial court, likewise, downplayed the fact that the robbery occurred in a public setting during daylight hours. While it acknowledged that such facts could potentially deter violence, it found "no evidence that the robbery was planned for that time or that it was planned to occur at that time for the purpose of minimizing the risk of violence." (1 CT 208.)

Emanuel did not challenge the major participation finding on appeal. He did, however, argue that there was no substantial evidence he acted with reckless indifference to human life. The Court of Appeal affirmed, citing Emanuel’s physical proximity to the killing, his failure to minimize the risk of violence after Whitley produced a gun, and his failure to come to Cody’s aid or call for help. (Opn., p. 14.)

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