No. S280551

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,
v.
LOUIS SANCHEZ EMANUEL,
Defendant and Appellant.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H049147
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1246799
The Honorable Vanessa A. Zecher, Judge

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE (SBN 183595)
Senior Assistant Attorney General
BRIDGET BILLETTER (SBN 183758)
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
*SARAH J. FARHAT (SBN 228179)
Deputy Attorney General
455 Golden Gate Avenue, Suite 11000

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

ARGUMENT

I. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE SUPERIOR COURT’S FINDING OF RECKLESS INDIFFERENCE TO HUMAN LIFE

Emanuel does not seek the announcement of a new rule or an expansion of an existing rule. He simply disagrees with the superior court’s assessment of the facts and its reasoning under *Clark*, and asks this Court to engage in error review. To conclude contrary to the superior court’s finding of reckless indifference would involve ignoring not only the record in this case but also

the well-established deferential standards governing review of sufficiency claims and findings of fact. Considering the *Clark* factors under the appropriate standard of review, the superior court reasonably concluded, based on sufficient evidence, that Emanuel’s conduct places him more toward the *Tison* end of the *Enmund/Tison* spectrum.

A. Standard of review

The standard of review that applies to a superior court’s findings at a section 1172.6 hearing is the traditional sufficiency of evidence standard. (*People v. Sifuentes* (2022) 83 Cal.App.5th 217, 232-233; *People v. Owens, supra*, 78 Cal.App.5th at p. 1022 [superior court’s factual findings are reviewed for substantial evidence].) This standard governs even when the trial court is simply evaluating the underlying trial record. (*People v. Njoku* (2023) 95 Cal.App.5th 27, 41-43; *People v. Oliver* (2023) 90 Cal.App.5th 466, 479-480; *People v. Underwood* (2024) ___ Cal.App.5th ___ [2024 WL 337197, at *6-*7]; accord, *People v. Perez* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1055, 1066 [applying substantial evidence review to trial court’s evaluation of underlying trial record for another resentencing statute].)

In conducting a substantial evidence review, a reviewing court reviews the entire record to determine whether “*any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements” required for denying relief under section 1172.6 “beyond a reasonable doubt.” (*People v. Zamudio* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 327, 357; accord, *In re Scoggins, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 677 [“We analyze the totality of the circumstances to determine whether

Scoggins acted with reckless indifference to human life”].) “The record must disclose substantial evidence to support the verdict—i.e., evidence that is reasonable, credible, and of solid value—such that a reasonable trier of fact could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” (*Zamudio*, at p. 357; accord, *Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 325-326.) “In applying this test, we review the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and presume in support of the judgment the existence of every fact the jury could reasonably have deduced from the evidence.” (*Zamudio*, at p. 357.)

“Conflicts and even testimony [that] is subject to justifiable suspicion do not justify the reversal of a judgment, for it is the exclusive province of the trial judge or jury to determine the credibility of a witness and the truth or falsity of the facts upon which a determination depends. [Reviewing courts] resolve neither credibility issues nor evidentiary conflicts; we look for substantial evidence.” (*Zamudio, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at p. 357, internal citations and quotation marks omitted; accord, *Jackson v. Virginia, supra*, 443 U.S. at pp. 317-320.) A holding contrary to the conclusion reached by the superior court “is unwarranted unless it appears that upon no hypothesis whatever is there sufficient substantial evidence to support” the superior court’s conclusion. (*Zamudio*, at p. 357, internal quotation marks omitted.)

The same standard applies where the prosecution relies on circumstantial evidence. “Although it is the [trier of fact]’s duty to acquit a defendant if it finds the circumstantial evidence

susceptible of two reasonable interpretations, one of which suggests guilt and the other innocence, it is the [trier of fact], not the appellate court that must be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. [Citation.]' [Citation.] Where the circumstances reasonably justify the trier of fact's findings, a reviewing court's conclusion the circumstances might also reasonably be reconciled with a contrary finding does not warrant the judgment's reversal." (*Zamudio, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at pp. 357-358; accord, *People v. Tran* (2022) 13 Cal.5th 1169, 1204.)

B. The evidence presented, and the reasonable inferences drawn from it, sufficiently support the superior court's factual finding that Emanuel acted with reckless indifference to human life

"Reckless indifference to human life is 'implicit in knowingly engaging in criminal activities known to carry a grave risk of death.'" (*Scoggins, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 676, quoting *Tison, supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 157.) It "encompasses a willingness to kill (or to assist another in killing) to achieve a distinct aim, even if the defendant does not specifically desire that death as the outcome of his actions." (*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 617.)

The undisputed fact that Emanuel was a major participant in Cody's murder should set the stage for this Court's review of the superior court's finding of reckless indifference and its consideration of the *Clark* factors because, as this Court has recognized, "[t]he greater the defendant's participation in the felony murder, the more likely that he acted with reckless indifference to human life." (*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 615.) In finding that Emanuel was a "major participant," the superior court found that Emanuel was "intimately involved in planning

the robbery”; was present at the scene; was “integral in setting up the marijuana sale at which he and Whitley planned to rob Cody”; and did nothing when Whitley pulled out a gun, hit Cody over the head, and shot him. (1CT 201-202.) Based on the totality of the circumstances, the superior court concluded that Emanuel’s participation was more than just as a lookout or getaway driver, and having a major role in the robbery he was “significantly closer to the *Tison* end of the spectrum.” (1CT 202.) Emanuel did not challenge this finding below and does not do so here.

With those undisputed findings as a backdrop, applying the *Clark* factors and viewing the facts in a light favorable to the judgment, the record is sufficient to support the superior court’s reckless-indifference determination.

1. Knowledge and use of the gun

Although the superior court found that Emanuel did not have a gun during the robbery and had no *prior* knowledge that a gun would be used in the robbery, those facts are not dispositive of the superior court’s reckless indifference determination. (*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 618; *Banks, supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 803.)

Additionally, the evidence showed that, even if Emanuel was not aware that Whitley had a gun when the robbery started, Emanuel saw Whitley pull a gun and hit Cody with it to get Cody to let go of the marijuana. (10ORT 1077, 1081 [Emanuel told Santos that Cody “wasn’t trying to give it up,” and Whitley “hit him with the gun”].) Emanuel saw that Cody continued to resist,

and Whitley shot him. (4ORT 256; 10ORT 1077, 1081 [Emanuel told Santos that “the guy started fighting back and [Whitley] pointed the gun” and that Whitley “shot him”].) At the very least, once Whitley pulled out the gun, Emanuel had full awareness of the lethal weapon. Moreover, once Whitley started using the gun to hit Cody in the head, Emanuel had confirmation that Whitley intended to use the gun in a way that was dangerous to life. “Any pistol, even a short one, may be a ‘dangerous’ weapon . . . since it is capable of being used as a bludgeon.” (*People v. Aranda* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 518, 532, *superceded in part by* Cal. Const., art. I, § 28(d); see also *In re McDowell* (2020) 55 Cal.App.5th 999, 1013 [defendant knew “by no later than the warning shot” that his accomplice was “both carrying and willing to fire a gun”].) While Emanuel is correct that the lack of evidence of his prior knowledge of a firearm weighs in his favor, there was additional evidence that—once Emanuel became aware of the gun—his actions demonstrated his reckless indifference to Cody’s life.

2. Physical presence, proximity to the crime, and opportunity to restrain the crime or aid the victim

“Proximity to the murder and the events leading up to it may be particularly significant where . . . the murder is a culmination or a foreseeable result of several intermediate steps, or where the participant who personally commits the murder exhibits behavior tending to suggest a willingness to use lethal force.” (*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 613.) “In such cases, ‘the defendant’s presence allows him to observe his cohorts so that it

is fair to conclude that he shared in their actions and mental state. . . . [Moreover,] the defendant's presence gives him an opportunity to act as a restraining influence on the murderous cohorts. If the defendant fails to act as a restraining influence, then the defendant is arguably more at fault for the resulting murders." (*Ibid.*) "A defendant who is present also has the opportunity to assist the victim." (*In re Loza* (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 38, 54; accord, *Clark, supra*, at p. 619.)

Here, Emanuel admitted to Santos that he was present when Whitley robbed, struck, and shot Cody. (10ORT 1073, 1077.) He explained that Cody would not "give [the marijuana] up" when Whitley tried to take it from him, so Whitley struck Cody with the gun. (10ORT 1078, 1080-1081.) Then, when Cody continued to fight back, Whitley pointed the gun at him (10ORT 1081) and Emanuel "started panicking" when the gun went off (10ORT 1082). Emanuel's statements to Santos demonstrate he was present not only for the robbery but also for the shooting. He saw Whitley pull the gun, he saw Whitley hit Cody with the gun, he heard the gunshot (even if he did not see it), and then he left the scene with Whitley. Even if Emanuel had briefly averted his gaze from the struggle, the evidence demonstrated that he remained in close physical proximity to the scene and knew what was happening. Additionally, Whitley told Kindle that Emanuel was with him when the shooting occurred. (9ORT 984-985.) Sufficient evidence supports the superior court's finding that Emanuel's presence and proximity to the crime weighed toward reckless indifference to human life.

The evidence also demonstrated that Emanuel had the opportunity to observe the interaction between Cody and Whitley, and the opportunity to try to restrain or intervene before Whitley fired the gun. Whitley and Cody physically struggled over the marijuana for an undetermined amount of time before Whitley pulled out his gun. (10ORT 1078, 1080-1081.) When Cody would not “give it up,” Whitley struck him with the gun. (10ORT 1081.) When Cody continued to struggle with Whitley, again for an unknown amount of time, Whitley pointed the gun at him. (10ORT 1081.) At any point, between the time Cody and Whitley first started to struggle over the marijuana and when Whitley fired the gun at Cody, Emanuel could have tried to restrain Whitley or intervene in the struggle. Even if the timeframe for intervention is limited to between Whitley pulling out his gun and firing at Cody, Emanuel had time to intervene, once Whitley began striking Cody with the gun and Cody continued to struggle even after being hit.

As the superior court noted, the amount of time that elapsed between Whitley pulling out the gun and shooting Cody was unknown, but the evidence showed that Cody continued to struggle after being struck in the head, indicating “at least a minimal period of time in which [Emanuel] was aware of the gun and in which he could have tried to prevent the shooting.” (1CT 206.) The court analogized the circumstances to *People v. Loza*, *supra*, 10 Cal.App.5th 38, where the shooter counted down from five before firing. (*Id.* at p. 54.) The *Loza* court reasoned that those five seconds were a sufficient amount of time for the

defendant to do “any number of things to intercede or assist the victims—e.g., yell at [the shooter] to stop, try to halt the countdown, demand that they leave, distract [the shooter], to name a few. But instead [the defendant] did nothing during that crucial time period other than stand idly by with indifference” (*Ibid.*; see also 1CT 206-207.) In light of the totality of the circumstances, the court made the reasonable inference that Emanuel had an opportunity to prevent the shooting and he did not attempt to do so. (1CT 207.) That inference is entitled to deference. (*Tran, supra*, 13 Cal.5th at p. 1204; *Zamudio, supra*, 43 Cal.4th at pp. 357-358.)

The superior court also reasonably concluded that Emanuel’s failure to assist or aid Cody after the shooting demonstrated his reckless indifference. The court found that “[b]eing at the scene the second Cody was shot, [Emanuel] had the opportunity to assist Cody but chose not to do so.” (1CT 209.) Instead of assisting Cody or calling for help, the evidence showed he immediately fled the scene with Whitley in their car. (10ORT 1079.) The court also found that there was no evidence to prove that Emanuel believed that others would assist Cody. (1CT 210.) And there was evidence showing that Cody likely had been alive for minutes after the shooting, indicating some possibility that he might have been saved. (1CT 210.) Thus, it was not a situation where the victim could not have benefitted from some assistance or aid; Emanuel, being on scene, could have at least called for an ambulance. Instead, he did nothing. Having the opportunity to render aid to a victim, and failing to do so, knowing that the

victim might not be dead weighs toward reckless indifference.
(*Clark, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 619.)

Emanuel argues that the evidence proves that “he did try to ‘act as a restraining influence’ on Whitley,” because when “it became apparent that Cody was not planning to easily give up his pound of marijuana, Emanuel walked away and told Whitley, ‘Let’s go.’” (OBM 29.) Specifically, he alleges that the record indisputably shows he “walked away” or “began walking away” *before* Whitley struck Cody with the gun (OBM 29-30, citing 10ORT 1078, 1081), refuting the superior court’s conclusion that it was “unclear whether [Emanuel] asked Whitley to leave before or after the shooting occurred.” (OBM 29, quoting 1CT 207.)

Emanuel’s argument that he was definitively walking away *prior* to the shooting and could not have personally observed Whitley with the gun stretches the record. As explained above, Santos relayed to Sergeant Davies what Emanuel told her, which included: Emanuel watched Whitley and Cody struggle over the marijuana; Cody would not “give it up”; Emanuel said “let’s go,” but Whitley would not leave; Cody would not let go of the marijuana so Whitley pulled out the gun and struck Cody; Cody did not get knocked out; and Whitley pointed the gun at Cody. (10ORT 1081.)

Santos prefaced only three facts with “Jacob [Whitely] said,” and those three facts related not to the occurrence of the events themselves, but rather to particular details best known to the shooter. Specifically, after reporting Emanuel’s account that Whitley hit Cody with the gun, Santos specified that “Jacob said

he hit him on the head with the gun.” (10ORT 1081.) She then continued with Emanuel’s account that Cody started fighting back and that Whitley pointed the gun at Cody. (10ORT 1081.) She then returned to the specific details known to Whitley: “Jacob said he pointing [*sic*] the gun down, he was trying to aim down, but [Cody] hit his hand, it went up and Jacob pulled the trigger and he said he shot him in the neck.” (10ORT 1081; see also 10ORT 1078 [“Jacob said that he tried to aim for his leg, that the dude pushed the gun up and he shot him and then he fell to the ground”].)⁹

Emanuel contends that the references to “Jacob said” indicate that Emanuel’s account of the shooting was based entirely on Whitley’s recounting and that he did not observe any part of that altercation. (OBM 32-33.) While that may be one interpretation of the record, it is not the only interpretation, and certainly not the only reasonable interpretation. The superior court, acting as factfinder, reasonably viewed those three interjections as referring to specific details provided by Whitley, while the overall description and account was still based on Emanuel’s personal observations.¹⁰

⁹ The officer recounting the interviews noted that in Santos’s initial statement she said that only Whitley made admissions, but at the subsequent interview Santos acknowledged that both defendants (“they”) recounted the incident. (10ORT 1080 [Santos acknowledges “both of them” told her what happened].)

¹⁰ Moreover, the factfinder was not obligated to accept Emanuel’s or Santos’s statements in their entirety. (See *People v.* (continued...))

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